No. 13-110094-A



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

GLASSMAN CORPORATION, Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

CHAMPION BLDRS, LLC, Defendant-Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT GLASSMAN CORPORATION

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas, Honorable Franklin R. Theis, Judge District Court Case No. 12-C-141

> JOHN T. BIRD, #8419 Glassman, Bird, Schwartz & Park, L.L.P. 200 West 13th Street P.O. Box 727 Hays, Kansas 67601 (785) 625-6919 jtbird@haysamerica.com Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant

No. 13-110094-A No. 13-110094-A IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS GLASSMAN CORPORATION, Plaintiff-Appellant v.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT GLASSMAN CORPORATION

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed suit against Defendant for breach of contract and quantum meruit. Prior to answering, Defendant filed a *Motion to Dismiss* pursuant to K.S.A. 60-212(b)(6). The District Court treated Defendant's *Motion* as one for summary judgment, as it was presented with facts beyond the pleadings. The District Court dismissed the suit, ruling that Plaintiff's claims were barred by the doctrine of accord and satisfaction. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 24, 2009, Defendant entered into a prime contract with Manhattan-Ogden Unified School District #383, for the renovation of and addition to the Ogden Elementary School. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 9). On November 24, 2009, Plaintiff entered into a subcontract with Defendant in furtherance of its prime contract with U.S.D. #383. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 9). The subcontract price was \$858,700.00. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 10). Change Order #1 increased the subcontract price by \$3,693.00. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 18). Change Order #2 increased the subcontract price by \$4,681.60. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 19). A dispute arose over Change Order #3 and Plaintiff maintained that at most, change order #3 should operate to reduce the contract price by \$3,101.51. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 29). Plaintiff performed additional work for Defendant, at its request, at a cost of \$9,969.50. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 21). Plaintiff provided valuable labor, services, and materials that were necessary for Defendant to perform and complete its obligations under the prime contract with U.S.D. #383. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 28, ¶ 2; p. 29 ¶ 5). Plaintiff fully performed its

obligations under the contract. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 28, ¶ 2). Plaintiff claimed a total owed of \$873,942.59. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 29).

Defendant paid Plaintiff a total of \$799,444.00, but disputed the remaining amount due. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 6). On May 10, 2011, Defendant issued two checks to Plaintiff in the amounts of \$16,616.04 and \$38,304.05, respectively. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 29, ¶ 7). Defendant placed restrictive endorsements on these checks in an attempt to create an accord and satisfaction. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 29, ¶ 8). Plaintiff removed the restrictive endorsements and notified Defendant of its intent to do so. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 30, ¶ 10; p. 50). The checks were honored by Defendant's financial institution after Defendant had been notified that its restrictive endorsement was removed from the checks and that they would be presented for payment. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 30, ¶ 11; p. 50). Plaintiff claims a balance due, after application of the two partial payments, of \$19,578.50, plus interest. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 6).

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When a district court has granted a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, an appellate court must accept the facts alleged by the plaintiff as true, along with any inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom. *Rector v. Tatham*, 287 Kan. 230, 232-33, 196 P.3d 364, 366-67 (2008). The appellate court then decides whether those facts and inferences state a claim based on plaintiff's theory or any other possible theory. *Id.* If so, the dismissal by the district court must be reversed. *Id.* Judicial skepticism must be exercised when the motion is made before the completion of discovery. *Id.*

When a motion to dismiss under K.S.A. 60–212(b)(6) contests the legal sufficiency of a claim, the question must be decided from the well-pleaded facts of a plaintiff's petition. *Dye v. WMC, Inc.*, 38 Kan. App. 2d 655, 661, 172 P.3d 49, 54 (2007). A petition should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless, after reviewing the petition in the light most favorable to plaintiff and with every doubt resolved in plaintiff's favor, that, under plaintiff's pleadings, the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, either under plaintiff's theory or under any other possible theory, in support of plaintiff's claim which would entitle plaintiff to relief. *Id.* The granting of such motions has not been favored by our courts. *Id.*

When matters outside the pleadings are presented in support of a motion to dismiss, the district court shall treat the motion as one for summary judgment. *Ronald v. Odette Family Ltd. P'ship v. AGCO Fin., LLC*, 35 Kan. App. 2d 1, 5, 129 P.3d 95, 99 (2005). Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* The trial court is required to resolve all facts and inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom the ruling is sought. *Id.* On appeal, an appellate court must apply the same rules and where reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The parties did not create an accord and satisfaction on the debt in question. In Amino Bros. Co. v. Twin Caney Watershed (Joint) Dist. No. 34 of Chautauqua,

Montgomery & Elk Counties, 206 Kan. 68, 72-73, 476 P.2d 228 (1970), the Kansas Supreme Court explained that "an accord is a contract between creditor and debtor for the settlement of the claim by some performance other than that which is due. Satisfaction takes place when the accord is performed." Therefore to have accord and satisfaction, there must have been

an offer in full satisfaction of the obligation, accompanied by such acts and declarations as amount to a condition that if it is accepted, it is to be in full satisfaction, and the condition must be such that the party to whom the offer is made is bound to understand that if he accepts it, he does so subject to the conditions imposed.

Id. An accord and satisfaction is the result of an agreement between the parties, and, like all other agreements, must be consummated by a meeting of the minds of the parties, accompanied by a sufficient consideration. *Id.*

No such agreement existed here and there was not a meeting of the minds. When Plaintiff was presented with Defendant's offer in final settlement of the debt, it was expressly rejected by the Plaintiff. Plaintiff, recognizing the attempt to create an accord and satisfaction, notified Defendant that it was not in agreement with the compromised amount. Accord and satisfaction was meant to be an alternative means of dispute resolution and was not designed to be used as a way to trick creditors into accepting less than full payment. In this case, when Plaintiff received the two drafts that contained restrictive endorsements, it immediately communicated to Defendant that it did not consider the payments to be in final settlement of the amounts owed.

The restrictive endorsements printed on the drafts were not magic. The words had no effect after they had been eliminated. Had that language remained on the drafts, it would have served as evidence to third parties that Plaintiff and Defendant had reached a

settlement of their disputes. However, eliminating the language from the drafts, with notice, returned the parties to their initial positions. In effect, Plaintiff's removal of the restrictive endorsement, accompanied by notice to the Defendant of the removal and of Plaintiff's intention to deposit the checks for payment, giving Defendant the option of dishonoring the checks, constituted a counter-offer which was accepted by Defendant when it opted not to dishonor them or take any further action.

A factually similar case is *Lighthouse for the Blind v. Miller*, 149 Kan. 165, 86 P.2d 508 (1939), in which the creditor and debtor made a contract for the purchase of broom corn, but the product delivered by debtor was not of the quality ordered. *Id.* at 509. The creditor requested a refund of his purchase price and in response received a check for \$100.00 from the debtor. *Id.* The creditor retained the check and wrote the debtor saying, "of course, this amount is far too small to be any adjustment on the loss we have on the last carload of broom corn we purchased from your firm." *Id.* The creditor filed suit and obtained judgment for \$648.53. *Id.*

In holding for the creditor in *Miller*, the court stated that the creditor's retention of the check, when it had promptly notified the debtor that it still insisted upon payment of the balance claimed, did not establish assent to the acceptance of the sum tendered as a full settlement. *Id.* In the present case, Defendant issued the two checks on May 10, 2011. On May 13, 2011, the Plaintiff notified Defendant in writing that it still claimed a balance due and did not accept the payment in full settlement of the debt. The Plaintiff notified Defendant of its intent to eliminate the restrictive endorsements and present the checks for payment, communicating that it still insisted upon payment of the balance.

Defendant did not object to the Plaintiff's proposed course of action nor did it respond in any way.

Defendant relies on K.S.A. 84-3-311, a provision of the Uniform Commercial Code, in support of its claims. However, K.S.A. 84-3-311(b) requires the person against whom the claim is asserted to prove that the instrument negotiated contained a conspicuous statement to the effect that the instrument was tendered as full satisfaction of the claim. This placed the burden of proof on Defendant. In considering Defendant's motion, the District Court was required to resolve any doubts in favor of the Plaintiff. As such, the Plaintiff's theory of the case should have been accepted. In holding for Defendant, the District Court agreed that as long as an instrument bore a "conspicuous statement" at one time in its existence, an accord and satisfaction was created, as though the words printed on the instrument held special power once they were removed.

However, the use of the word "conspicuous" in the statute in reference to the statement on the instrument indicates that the statement must exist on the instrument and be visible at the time of negotiation. The Uniform Commercial Code Comment recognizes that the canceled check would be used to prove that there was a conspicuous statement, as well as the fact that the claiming obtained payment of the check. *Uniform Commercial Code* § 3-311 cmt. 4 (1991). A statement is conspicuous if "it is so written that a reasonable person against whom it is to operate ought to have noticed it." *Id.* In this case, no reasonable person could have noticed the statement after its removal by Plaintiff. If a creditor negotiates an instrument with a "conspicuous statement", it provides notice to the debtor and the public that the accord has been formed. If the

instrument has no "conspicuous statements" on it when negotiated, it provides no evidence of compromise and should be treated as any other instrument.

Subsections a and b of K.S.A. 84-3-311 must be read together, as requiring the Defendant to prove, among other things, that Plaintiff obtained payment of an instrument that contained a "conspicuous statement". Defendant cannot meet its burden because Plaintiff obtained payment of instruments that had no "conspicuous statements". The "conspicuous statement" must be present on the instrument at the only time relevant, the time of negotiation. An instrument that has not been negotiated by the creditor has no legal effect as an accord and satisfaction. The point at which the instrument becomes effective as an accord and satisfaction is the point when the creditor accepts it by negotiating it. If the "conspicuous statement" does not exist on the instrument at that relevant time, it cannot be effective against the creditor. Negotiation of a check with no restrictive endorsement has no consequence other than as a partial payment.

The restrictive notations on the drafts by the Defendants were nothing more than an offer to make an accord. The statute was intended to create an informal method of dispute resolution. There was no dispute resolution in this case as both parties were aware that the balance due was still considered to be outstanding by Plaintiff, with the two checks considered partial payments. As in any other contract, the offer needed to be accepted by the Plaintiff to constitute a contract. Had the Plaintiff presented the instruments for payment without removing the endorsements, the accord would have been formed and the satisfaction achieved. However, Plaintiff informed the Defendant in advance that it found the restrictive endorsements unacceptable. When Plaintiff removed the endorsements and deposited the drafts, giving prior notice to the Defendant it was

now in a position to resolve the remaining financial issues, Plaintiff clearly rejected Defendant's offer of settlement and Defendant, at worst, acquiesced in that position.

In re Al Muehlberger Concrete Const., Inc., 319 B.R. 663, 666 (Bankr. D. Kan. 2005), is relied on by the Defendant for the proposition that a creditor cannot simply cross out the restrictive endorsement on an instrument to avoid accord and satisfaction. The case is distinguishable from the present case for two reasons. First, Plaintiff totally removed the restrictive endorsements from the instruments, rather than just crossing them out. More importantly, Plaintiff communicated to Defendant its intent to remove the restrictive endorsements from the instruments before negotiating them. Negotiation of the instruments could not have served to give Defendant notice of agreement to the accord because Defendant had already been informed to the contrary.

The notification gave Defendant the opportunity to act if it did not wish the instruments to be negotiated without the proposed restrictive endorsements. There was clear notice to the Defendant that Plaintiff did not agree to compromise the debt. At that point, Defendant knew there had been no meeting of the minds and no accord as to the payment of the debt and that Plaintiff was still claiming the remainder of the balance was owed. In response, Defendant did nothing. Defendant knew Plaintiff had rejected its offer of settlement and intended to apply the payments to the balance owed. Defendant's failure to act should prevent it from benefiting from its claimed accord and satisfaction.

Defendant also relied upon *Amino Bros.*, 206 Kan. 68, 73 (1970), in which the creditor made no attempt to remove the restrictive endorsement before negotiating the payment. Instead, the creditor cashed the check and filed suit months later. *Id.* at 230. The Court explained that an accord and satisfaction is the result of an agreement between

the parties, and, like all other agreements, must be consummated by a meeting of the minds of the parties, accompanied by a sufficient consideration. *Id.* at 231. "If the creditor is to be held to abate his claim against the debtor, it must be shown that he understood that he was doing so when he received the claimed consideration therefor." *Id.* at 232. Here, both parties were aware that they had no agreement for compromise of the disputed amount owed. Plaintiff communicated its position on the offer, in writing, prior to cashing the check submitted by Defendant, and removed the restrictive endorsement on the check.

Defendant claims that the alteration of the instrument was fraudulent. However, when Defendant was given notice of Plaintiff's intent to remove the endorsements and took no action to protest or to prevent Plaintiff from pursuing its stated course of action, it waived any claim that the alteration was done fraudulently. Defendant acquiesced in the alteration when it was notified of Plaintiff's plan to eliminate the restrictive endorsement and allowed the draft to be paid by its financial institution. K.S.A. 84-3-407(b) provides that a fraudulent alteration discharges the party except when that party assents to the alteration or is precluded from asserting the alteration. (Emphasis added). The alteration in question was not done fraudulently, but was done with advance notice to Defendant. Defendant had the opportunity to object to the alteration or respond to the Plaintiff's letter and failed to do so, therefore cannot now claim fraud.

Defendant should not be permitted to benefit from its failure to assert its rights.

Defendant had ample opportunity to communicate with Plaintiff about the offer of compromise or to inform Plaintiff that it did not wish to make partial payment if the accord was not accepted or simply stop payment on the checks. Instead, Defendant did

nothing and should now be prevented from asserting the rights it failed to assert before suit was filed. A party asserting equitable estoppel must show that another party, by its acts, representations, admissions, or silence when it had a duty to speak, induced it to believe certain facts existed. *Bowen v. Westerhaus*, 224 Kan. 42, 46, 578 P.2d 1102 (1978). "It must also show it rightfully relied and acted upon such belief and would now be prejudiced if the other party were permitted to deny the existence of such facts. . . ."

Id. By failing to respond in any way, and allowing its bank to honor the checks without the restrictive endorsements, Defendant consented to the alteration and presentment of the checks to its financial institution. Defendant acquiesced in the course of action taken by Plaintiff and as a result is now estopped from claiming that Plaintiff's actions have some other significance.

In addition to its breach of contract claim, Plaintiff asserted a claim in equity against Defendant for quantum meruit. Quantum meruit is an equitable doctrine. *Haz-Mat Response, Inc. v. Certified Waste Servs. Ltd.*, 259 Kan. 166, 176, 910 P.2d 839, 846 (1996). The Defendant's *Motion to Dismiss* did not address the quantum meruit claim and the District Court made no ruling on this claim. Therefore, the District Court's dismissal of Plaintiff's suit was improper as it did not address all of Plaintiff's claims. Plaintiff provided labor, services and materials on a project and was not paid. Defendant benefitted from the labor, services and materials provided by Plaintiff and has been unjustly enriched. The District Court had power in equity to make the Plaintiff whole, a power that is not affected by the legal doctrine of accord and satisfaction. In general, equitable remedies are not available if there is an adequate remedy at law, such that a remedy at law must be unavailable before equitable relief is allowed. *Nelson v. Nelson*,

288 Kan. 570, 597, 205 P.3d 715, 734 (2009). Here, if the District Court's ruling is affirmed, the Plaintiff should be allowed to prove its case for equitable relief.

CONCLUSION

The concept of accord and satisfaction exists to provide a simple way for parties to compromise their disputes. It is not meant to be used as a way to unilaterally compel a creditor to compromise the amount it is owed. The Defendant knew that there was a dispute over the amount it owed to Plaintiff. It knew that there was no meeting of the minds as to a compromise of the amount owed. It submitted two checks, with unacceptable restrictive endorsements to Plaintiff, in an attempt to force Plaintiff into accepting less than what it was owed. When Plaintiff responded unequivocally that it did not agree to the compromise, it rejected the drafts with the restrictive endorsements. Plaintiff notified Defendant that it intended to accept the checks without the restrictive endorsements as partial payment of the amount owed. No accord and satisfaction took place and Defendant is indebted to Plaintiff both on the contract and in equity. The District Court's dismissal of Plaintiff's case should be reversed.

RESPECTE LLY SUBMITTED.

JOHN T. BIRD, #8419

Glassman, Bird, Schwartz & Park, L.L.P.

200 West 13th Street

R.O. Box 727

Hays, Kansas 67601

(785) 625-6919

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant

CAROL M. PARK, #22625

Glassman, Bird, Schwartz & Park, L.L.P. 200 West 13th Street P.O. Box 727

Hays, Kansas 67601

(785) 625-6919

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant