No.13-110094-A



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

GLASSMAN CORPORATION
Appellant, Plaintiff

v.

CHAMPION BLDRS, L.L.C. Appellee, Defendant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE CHAMPION BLDRS, L.L.C.

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas, Honorable Franklin R. Theis, Judge District Court Case No. 12-C-141

Anthony S. Barry, KS #14320
Barry Law Offices, L.L.C.
5340 SW 17th Street, P.O. Box 4816
Topeka, KS 66604
(785)273-3153
(785)273-3159 Fax
Email: tonyb@inlandnet.net
Attorneys for the Appellee/Defendant
Champion BLDRS, L.L.C.

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

STANDARD OF REVIEW:

The court's standard for reviewing a district court's grant of summary judgment is well-known. Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The trial court is required to resolve all facts and inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom the ruling is sought. When opposing a motion for summary judgment, an adverse party must come forward with evidence to establish a dispute as to a material fact.... On appeal, the appellate court applies the same rules and where the appellate court finds that reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied. *Osterhaus v. Toth*, 291 Kan. 759, 768, 249 P. 3d 888 (2011) and Lumry v. State, Docket No. 108,425, p. 9-10, 307 P. 3d 232 (Kan. App. 8-16-2013). See

also, Simmons v. Porter, Docket No. 102,662, p. 7 (Kansas Sup. Ct., November 8, 2013)(Citing to Osterhaus, and holding that the applicability of a common-law doctrine such as accord and satisfaction is a question of law over which the appellate court has unlimited review.).

Generally, Defendant does not object to the general principals set forth by Plaintiff that the Court must afford the Plaintiff in response to a motion to dismiss or summary judgment. However, Defendant points out that the Court is not required to accept Plaintiff's conclusory allegations or the legal effects of events that Plaintiff has set out if these allegations do not reasonably follow from the description of what happened, or if the allegations are contradicted by the description itself. *Dye v WMC*, 38 Kan. App. 2d, 655, 661 (2007) citing to *Halley v*. *Barnabe*, 271 Kan. 652, 656, 24 P.3d 140 (2001). In this matter the material facts are not in dispute, and it was up to Plaintiff to come forward with evidence to establish a dispute as to a material fact. *Osterhaus at p. 768*. Plaintiff failed to come forward with any such evidence, and Plaintiff's interpretation of the legal effect of what happened in this matter is not supported by Kansas case and statutory law regarding accord and satisfaction. The issuance of summary judgment by the District Court was therefore proper.

ACCORD AND SATISFACTION:

The Supreme Court of Kansas set forth an excellent explanation of the common law affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction in the case of *Amino Brothers Co., Inc. v. Twin Caney Watershed District, 206 Kan. 68, 476 P. 2d 228 (1970)*. In the *Amino Brothers* case, the Supreme Court noted that there are two different scenarios or distinctions as set forth in the Kansas law regarding accord and satisfaction. Claims that are unliquidated or disputed (you say I owe you \$100.00 and I say that I only owe you \$50.00) and those that are liquidated or undisputed (I agree I owe you \$100.00 but I just don't want to pay you). Kansas case law

recognizes this distinction. *Amino Bros. at p.72*. Based on the undisputed material facts as claimed in Plaintiff's Petition ¶6; Plaintiff's counsel's May 13th, 2011, letter and in paragraph 3. of Christy Philieger's affidavit there was a bona fide dispute between the parties over the subcontract amount claimed to be owed to Plaintiff. (R.O.A., Vol. I, p. 5); (R.O.A.. Vol. I, p. 50) and (R.O.A., Vol. IV, p. 14). Therefore, the amount owed to Plaintiff was unliquidated and disputed.

In *Amino Brothers* the Supreme Court stated "where a creditor and a debtor have a dispute as to the amount of a debt, and the debtor remits checks for the amount he contends the debt to be, the intending remittance to be in full payment thereof, and the creditor accepts and knowingly retains the amount thus remitted, the legal consequence is that of accord and satisfaction, notwithstanding the creditor immediately wrote to the debtor stating he had deposited the checks and endorsed under protest." The effective way to protest the debtor's offer of settlement would have been to decline the checks, and not having done so the claimant is estopped to deny settlement of its claims. *Id. at p. 73-74*.

In Amino Brothers, the Amino Brothers brought an action for additional money for claimed extra work in the amount of \$22,342.96. Defendant tendered a check to the plaintiff in the amount of \$2,944.72 with the endorsement on such check that "endorsement of payee will constitute a receipt in full when check is paid." Amino Brothers endorsed and cashed the check. Id. at p. 68-70. The Supreme Court held that the legal consequence of cashing the checks issued as final payment was that the Amino Brothers' claims for additional compensation were barred by the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction. If the Amino Brothers wanted to protest or reject the debtor's offer of settlement the Court stated they should have sent the checks back and declined final payment. Id. at p. 73-74. That is precisely what Plaintiff should have done in this

matter, Plaintiff should have sent the checks back to Defendant Champion BLDRS. When Plaintiff kept and deposited Check No.(s) 7287 & 7288, Plaintiff accepted Defendants offer of FINAL settlement. Plaintiff's claims are therefore barred by the common law affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction.

The case of Wedensaul v. Greenhouse Restaurant of Lawrence, 13 Kan. App. 2d 95, 762 P. 2d 196 (1988) is also instructive on the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction. In Wedensaul there was a dispute over the extent and value of materials and work performed by the claimant Wedensaul. The claimant sought \$180,000.00 for labor and materials. Debtor issued a \$75,000.00 check with the notation "payment in full for construction done" written on the face of the check. The claimant in Wedensaul negotiated the check after writing "without prejudice and under protest" on the face of the check and writing "partial payment" on the back of the check above claimant's signature. Held, claimant's claim for additional compensation was barred by the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction. The Court of Appeals citing to the Amino Brothers decision stated that the effective way to protest the offer of settlement was to decline the check. The acceptance and use of the check by the claimant will be regarded as assent to the conditions of the check and amounts to an accord and satisfaction of the claim, and the intent of the claimant is immaterial. By endorsing and collecting the check with knowledge that it is offered in full satisfaction of a disputed claim, the creditor agrees to these conditions and the creditor is estopped from denying the agreement. Wedensaul at pp. 96 & 97 (emphasis added)

The same is true in this matter, by depositing Check No(s). 7287 & 7288 marked as FINAL payment in the check stubs (even after Plaintiff removed the additional restrictive endorsement on the back of such instruments), the Plaintiff agreed to the conditions that the checks were offered as FINAL payment of its disputed claims and Plaintiff is estopped from

denying its agreement to compromise its claim. The intent of the Plaintiff is immaterial (i.e. that Plaintiff was treating the payments as partial payments). Wedensaul at pp. 96 & 97 (emphasis added)

Plaintiff cites to Lighthouse For the Blind v. Miller, 149 Kan. 165, 86 P. 2d 508 (1939), as support for its position. However, Lighthouse is actually in accordance with the Wedensaul and Amino Brothers decisions. In the Lighthouse case the Supreme Court stated that when a claim is disputed or unliquidated in order to constitute an accord and satisfaction, such payment must have been offered as full satisfaction of a claim accompanied by such declarations or under such circumstances as would amount to a condition that if accepted by the creditor would be in full satisfaction of the debt. The debtor must make it clear that the check was offered only on the condition that it is taken in full payment of claims. Id. at p. 509. Lighthouse also set forth that "when a claim is disputed or unliquidated and the tender of a check or draft in settlement thereof is of such character as to give the creditor notice that it must be accepted in full force and satisfaction of the claim or not at all, the retention and use thereof by the creditor constitutes an accord and satisfaction." Id. at 509 (emphasis added).

Here, Defendant's tender of Check no(s). 7287 & 7288 contained clear and conspicuous statements in the check stubs and in the restrictive endorsements placed on the backs of such instruments, that such instruments were tendered as a full and FINAL payment for labor and materials supplied to the Project. Plaintiff's acceptance and use of such funds constituted an accord and satisfaction of any and all of Plaintiff's claims. Therefore, Plaintiff failed to state a legally supportable claim upon which relief could ever be granted in this matter. The District Court's Journal Entry of summary judgment and dismissal based upon the common law affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction was correct and should be affirmed.

UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE--- K.S.A. §84-3-311 ACCORD & SATISFACTION BY USE OF AN INSTRUMENT:

The Uniform Commercial Code K.S.A. §84-3-311 also provides support for the District Court's Journal Entry of Summary Judgment. It is undisputed that the parties had a dispute as to the amount Defendant owed Plaintiff for work on the Project. (R.O.A., Vol. I, p. 5) and (R.O.A., Vol. IV, pp. 4 & 14). It is undisputed that Checks No(s). 7287 & 7288 were issued as FINAL payment. (R.O.A., Vol. I, p. 5) and (R.O.A. Vol. IV, p. 4). It is also undisputed that Plaintiff deposited Check No(s). 7287 & 7288 and obtained payment from Defendant. (R.O.A., Vol. I, p. 5) and (R.O.A., Vol. IV, pp. 14-15).

Therefore, Plaintiff was paid in full and the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction by use of an instrument as set forth in K.S.A. §84-3-311(a) bars Plaintiff's claims. K.S.A. §84-3-311 Accord and Satisfaction By Use of Instrument provides as follows:

- (a) If a person against whom a claim is asserted proves that (1) that person in good faith tendered an instrument to the claimant as full satisfaction of the claim,
 (2) the amount of the claim was unliquidated or subject to a bona fide dispute, and (3) claimant obtained payment of the instrument, the following subsections apply. (emphasis added)
- (b) Unless subsection (c) applies, <u>the claim is discharged</u> if the person against whom the claim is asserted proves <u>that the instrument</u> or an accompanying written communication <u>contained a conspicuous statement</u> to the effect that the instrument was tendered as full satisfaction of the claim. (emphasis added)

Plaintiff specifically plead in its Petition elements 1-3 of K.S.A. §84-3-311(a). (R.O.A., Vo. I, p. 5, Petition ¶¶6 & 10). Plaintiff plead that Defendant tendered two instruments as full satisfaction; that the parties had a bona fide dispute; that Plaintiff obtained payment on the instruments and that Defendant conspicuously placed statements on the instruments to the effect that the instruments were tendered as full satisfaction of Plaintiff's claims, i.e. the restrictive endorsements on the backs of such instruments and the word FINAL in the check stubs. (R.O.A.,

Vo. I, p. 5, Petition ¶¶6 & 10). Therefore, pursuant to K.S.A. §84-3-311(b), Plaintiff's claims are barred by the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction by use of instrument, i.e., by accepting payment of the FINAL Checks No(s). 7287 & 7288.

There is only one case in Kansas analyzing K.S.A. §84-3-311(a), but such case is directly on point and factually identical to the case at hand. *In Re Al Muehlberger Concrete*Construction, Inc., 319 B.R. 663, Bankruptcy No. 04-20212, Adv. 04-6088 (United States Bankruptcy Court, D. Kan. January 30th, 2005). The sole issue for consideration in In Re Al Muehlberger was whether a check marked "Final Payment" on its face issued by the defendant general contractor and negotiated by the plaintiff subcontractor, constituted an accord and satisfaction under Kansas law. Id. at p. 664. The defendant was a general contractor, and the plaintiff was a subcontractor who supplied labor and material pursuant to a subcontract agreement. The plaintiff subcontractor Muehlberger invoiced the general contractor the sum of \$4,145.63. Thereafter, the defendant McQuaid sent Meuhlberger a check marked "Final Payment" on its face for \$2,072.82. A letter also accompanied the check from McQuaid. As in this matter, the creditor Muehlberger negotiated the check after crossing out the "Final Payment" language. Id at p. 655. (emphasis added)

The court in *In Re Al Muelberger* held that there was no disagreement that the check and accompanying letter contained conspicuous statements that identified the check was being tendered in full satisfaction of the entire debt. In addition, neither party questioned the existence of a bona fide dispute. Therefore, the Court found that the general contractor tendered a check as full satisfaction of a claim that was subject to bona fide dispute, that the instrument contained conspicuous statements to the effect that the instrument was tendered as full satisfaction of the claim, and that the subcontractor obtained payment of the instrument, which satisfied the

prerequisites of K.S.A. §84-3-311(b) for discharging the claim of the subcontractor. *Id. at p.* 666. Therefore, the debt between the general contractor defendant and the subcontractor plaintiff was discharged and the general contractor no longer owed any money to the now bankrupt subcontractor. *Id. at p.* 667. Here, Check No(s). 7287 & 7288 were tendered as FINAL payment and they contained conspicuous language to that fact. (R.O.A. Vol. I, p. 5) and (R.O.A. Vol. IV, pp. 4-10). *See Appellee's Appendix attached hereto*.

As in *In Re Al Muelberger*, Plaintiff attempted to eliminate the restrictive endorsements by whiting out the restrictive endorsement altering the checks before depositing them. Plaintiff's alteration and whiting out the restrictive endorsement did not change the fact that the checks were tendered or offered as FINAL payment to Plaintiff of a disputed amount, or that Plaintiff obtained payment on such checks. Plaintiff's claims are barred by the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction according to K.S.A. §84-3-311(b) and Plaintiff's claims are therefore discharged. The Court of Appeals should uphold the District Court's summary judgment ruling that Plaintiff's claims are barred by the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction by use of an instrument. Additionally, K.S.A. §84-3-311(c)(2) provided Plaintiff with a ninety (90) day safe harbor to return the money to Defendant to prevent the application of discharge, which Plaintiff failed to do. Plaintiff's claims are therefore discharged pursuant to K.S.A. §84-3-311(b).

Plaintiff spends nearly two pages citing to the Uniform Commercial Code §3-311 and comment 4 for the position that the conspicuous statement must be visible at the time of negation so the public is on notice that the accord has been formed. This position is wrong and without any support in any of the U.C.C comments to §3-311 (1991). Comment 4 actually states that "if the claimant can reasonably be expected to examine the check, almost any statement on the

check should be noticed and therefore conspicuous....since the statement concerning tender in full satisfaction normally will appear above the space provided for the claimant's indorsement of the check, the claimant [Plaintiff] "ought to have noticed" the statement." There is no mention about the need for the public being on notice in Comment 4 of the accord and satisfaction.

Comment 2 to U.C.C. §3-311 is more instructive on this matter. In relevant part Comment 2 provides as follows:

Under the common law rule the seller, by obtaining payment of the check accepts the offer of compromise by the buyer. The result is the same if the seller adds a notation to the check indicating that the check is accepted under protest or in only partial satisfaction of the claim. Under the common law rule the seller can refuse the check or can accept it subject to the condition stated by the buyer, but the seller can't accept the check and refuse to be bound by the condition. The rule applies only to an unliquidated claim or a claim disputed in good faith by the buyer. The dispute in the courts was whether Section 1-207 changed the common law. The Restatement states that section "need not be read as changing this well established rule."

Comment 3 of U.C.C. §3-311 provides that Section 3-311 follows the common law rule of accord and satisfaction, and Section 3-311 is based upon the belief that the common law rule produces a fair result and that informal dispute resolution by full satisfaction checks should be encouraged. The official comments to U.C.C. §3-311 provide no support for Plaintiff's position; rather such comments are in complete support of the Kansas common and statutory law regarding accord and satisfaction.

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